

The cornerstone K-RAS mutation in pancreatic adenocarcinoma: From cell signaling network, target genes, biological processes to therapeutic targeting

Nicolas Jonckheere, Romain Vasseur, Isabelle Van Seuningen

▶ To cite this version:

Nicolas Jonckheere, Romain Vasseur, Isabelle Van Seuningen. The cornerstone K-RAS mutation in pancreatic adenocarcinoma: From cell signaling network, target genes, biological processes to the rapeutic targeting. Critical Reviews in Oncology/Hematology, 2017, 111, pp.7-19. 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2017.01.002 . inserm-02341607

HAL Id: inserm-02341607 https://inserm.hal.science/inserm-02341607v1

Submitted on 31 Oct 2019 $\,$

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés. Elsevier Editorial System(tm) for Critical

Reviews in Oncology/Hematology

Manuscript Draft

Manuscript Number: CROH-D-16-00127R1

Title: The cornerstone K-ras mutation in pancreatic adenocarcinoma: from cell signaling network, target genes, biological processes to therapeutic targeting

Article Type: Oncology reviews

Keywords: K-RAS; pancreatic cancer; cell signaling; metabolism reprogramming; therapy

Corresponding Author: Dr. Nicolas Jonckheere, PhD

Corresponding Author's Institution: Inserm UMR-S1172

First Author: Nicolas Jonckheere, PhD

Order of Authors: Nicolas Jonckheere, PhD; Romain Vasseur, PhD; Isabelle Van Seuningen, PhD

Abstract: RAS belongs to the super family of small G proteins and plays crucial roles in signal transduction from membrane receptors in the cell. Mutations of K-RAS oncogene lead to an accumulation of GTP-bound proteins that maintains an active conformation. In the pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC), one of the most deadly cancers in occidental countries, mutations of the K-RAS oncogene are nearly systematic (>90 %). Moreover, K-RAS mutation is the earliest genetic alteration occurring during pancreatic carcinogenetic sequence. In this review, we discuss the central role of K-RAS mutations and their tremendous diversity of biological properties by the interconnected regulation of signaling pathways (MAPKs, NF-xB, PI3K, Ral...). In pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma, transcriptome analysis and preclinical animal models showed that K-RAS mutation alters biological behavior of PDAC cells (promoting proliferation, migration and invasion, evading growth suppressors, regulating mucin pattern, and miRNA expression). K-RAS also impacts tumor microenvironment and PDAC metabolism reprogramming. Finally we discuss therapeutic targeting strategies of K-RAS that have been developed without significant clinical success so far. As K-RAS is considered as the undruggable target, targeting its multiple effectors and target genes should be considered as potential alternatives.

The cornerstone K-RAS mutation in pancreatic adenocarcinoma: from cell signaling network, target genes, biological processes to therapeutic targeting

Nicolas Jonckheere¹, Romain Vasseur¹, Isabelle Van Seuningen¹

¹ Univ. Lille, Inserm, CHU Lille, UMR-S 1172 - JPARC - Jean-Pierre Aubert Research Center, Team "Mucins, epithelial differentiation and carcinogenesis", F-59000 Lille, France

Corresponding author: Dr Nicolas Jonckheere,

Inserm UMR-S 1172, JPARC, 1 rue Polonovski, 59045 Lille Cedex, France

Phone: +33 3 20 29 88 65, Fax: +33 3 20 53 85 62

E-Mail: nicolas.jonckheere@inserm.fr

Conflicts of interest: Authors declare no conflict of interest

Abstract:

RAS belongs to the super family of small G proteins and plays crucial roles in signal transduction from membrane receptors in the cell. Mutations of K-RAS oncogene lead to an accumulation of GTP-bound proteins that maintains an active conformation. In the pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma (PDAC), one of the most deadly cancers in occidental countries, mutations of the K-RAS oncogene are nearly systematic (>90 %). Moreover, K-RAS mutation is the earliest genetic alteration occurring during pancreatic carcinogenetic sequence. In this review, we discuss the central role of K-RAS mutations and their tremendous diversity of biological properties by the interconnected regulation of signaling pathways (MAPKs, NF-kB, PI3K, Ral...). In pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma, transcriptome analysis and preclinical animal models showed that K-RAS mutation alters biological behavior of PDAC cells (promoting proliferation, migration and invasion, evading growth suppressors, regulating mucin pattern, and miRNA expression). K-RAS also impacts tumor microenvironment and PDAC metabolism reprogramming. Finally we discuss therapeutic targeting strategies of K-RAS that have been developed without significant clinical success so far. As K-RAS is considered as the undruggable target, targeting its multiple effectors and target genes should be considered as potential alternatives.

Keywords:

K-RAS, pancreatic cancer, cell signaling, metabolism reprogramming, therapy

Table of contents

- 1. Introduction: RAS GTPase and mutations
- 2. K-RAS mutation and PDAC: So it begins.
- 3. K-RAS is central in cellular signaling network
- 4. K-RAS regulates a great diversity of biological processes
 - 4.1. Understanding K-RAS and intrinsic biological properties of PDAC cells: the contribution of transcriptomes
 - 4.2. Cell metabolism reprogramming
 - 4.3. Tumor microenvironment and immune system
 - 4.4. Mucins
 - 4.5. miRNA-mediated gene regulation
- 5. K-RAS as a therapeutic target
 - 5.1. Direct targeting of K-RAS activity
 - 5.2. Indirect targeting of K-RAS oncogene by altering its localization
 - 5.2.1. Prenylation inhibitor
 - 5.2.2. Icmt1 inhibitors
 - 5.2.3. Deltarasin, the PDE δ inhibitor
 - 5.3. K-RAS downstream pathway targeting
 - 5.4. Synthetic lethal interaction with K-RAS
- 6. Conclusions

1. Introduction: RAS GTPase and mutations

RAS super family belongs to the small G protein class that includes more than 150 guanosine tri-phosphate hydrolases (GTPase) (1). This highly conserved protein family plays major roles in signal transduction from membrane receptors within the cell (2,3). The family is divided in 5 main sub-families: RAS, Rho, Rab, ARF and Ran (2).

Among them, RAS proteins are mainly involved in the regulation of proliferation, differentiation, metabolism and survival genes. Among this family, the most characterized are H-RAS, N-RAS, and two isoforms K-RAS4A and K-RAS4B that originate from alternate splicing of the exon 4 of the *K-RAS* gene. Mostly, K-RAS designates K-RAS4B which expression is ubiquitous whereas K-RAS4A expression is more variable in the different tissues (4).

The RAS-family proteins are small 188-189 aa-21kDa GTPases with a very similar three dimensional structure. These proteins harbor two domains and a central region (5): The N-terminal G domain (aa 1-165) is highly conserved and includes a P-loop that binds phosphate, an effector binding domain (aa 32-40) and two switch regions (aa 32-38 and aa 59-76) that are responsible for conformation changes (**Figure 1A**). The central region (aa 85-165) displays 85-90 % homology across the RAS GTPase super family. The C-terminal hyper variable region (HVR) (aa 165-185) controls the membrane fixation and acts as auto-inhibitory domain. The CAAX final sequence is farnesylated on the cysteine residue allowing membrane anchoring. In addition, K-RAS4B HVR domain also contains a lysine-rich sequence that stabilizes the protein at the membrane.

In its inactivated state; K-RAS protein is located at the cell membrane internal surface and is bound to a guanosine-di-phosphate (GDP) (**Figure 1B-C**). Activation of a membrane receptor leads to the recruitment of the RAS Guanidine Exchange Factor (RASGEF) SOS1 *via* SH2 and SH3 domains of adaptors. This allows SOS1 interaction with RAS and induces GDP dissociation. The free RAS protein then quickly binds to a guanosine-tri-phosphate

(GTP) molecule, propagating the signal in the cell activating K-RAS target genes (6). However, RAS activation is transient because its GTPase activity hydrolyses GTP to GDP and goes back to the inactivated state. The GTP hydrolysis is promoted by a GTPase activating protein (GAP) that allows normal K-RAS activation/inactivation cycle (1,6) (**Figure 1C**). In the GDP-bound state, the catalytic domain of K-Ras4B interacts with HVR maintaining auto-inhibitory state that will be reverted upon activation (7).

RAS is also regulated by its cellular distribution and notably by its clustering in lipid rafts called nanoclusters (8). This modulation of the local phospho-lipid content subsequently alters RAS/RAF/MAPK signaling. According to its activation state, RAS forms nanocluster and allows efficient recruitment of effectors. The number of nanoclusters is proportional to the activation signal intensity. RAS conformation changes during GDP/GTP cycling: GDP-bound K-RAS is associated with the membrane via its HVR domain whereas GTP-bound is partially detached. Furthermore, GTP or GDP-bound RAS associates with different kind of phospholipids and therefore alter lipid content of the nanocluster (9,10). Interestingly, H- and N-RAS isoforms each form nanoclusters that do not non-overlap. This distribution could explain differential activation of signaling pathways despite their high homologies (11). While being mainly localized at the plasma membrane, K-RAS can also be phosphorylated on S181 by PKC leading to its delocalization on the mitochondrial membrane where it interacts with Bcl^{XL} and induces apoptosis (12). This Ser181 phosphorylation is inhibited by calmodulin (13).

2. K-RAS mutation and PDAC: So it begins.

Mutations of *K-RAS* gene are detected in 27% of cancers (COSMICv78 database http://www.sanger.ac.uk/genetics/CGP/cosmic/). These mutations (97-99 %) affect glycine12 (G12), glycine13 (G13) or glutamine61 (Q61) residues (**Figure 1D**). G12 residue mutation sterically blocks the orientation of the Q61 that is essential for RAS/GAP interaction, leading

to an accumulation of GTP-bound RAS unable to hydrolyze the GTP and hence maintaining the active conformation (14,15). G13 amino acid mutation enhances the flexibility of GTP binding area and leads to faster GTP/GDP cycle and impaired sustaining of activation (15). The Q61L mutation interferes with the nucleophilic attack on the γ -phosphate of GTP and impairs its hydrolysis (16).

In pancreatic adenocarcinomas (PDAC), one of the most deadly cancers in occidental countries (17), mutations of *K-RAS* gene are nearly systematic and are associated with a bad prognosis (18,19). Analysis of cBioPortal pancreatic adenocarcinoma samples confirmed the alteration of *K-RAS* in 89.8-94.9% of 740 cases out of 4 independent studies (ICGC, UTSW, TCGA and QCMG 2016). Recently, Bailey and colleagues confirmed that *K-RAS* activation occurs in more than 90% of PDAC in a wide transcriptional analysis clustering 96 tumors with high epithelial content (20). Interestingly, genes defined as "upregulated in overexpressing oncogenic *K-RAS* cells" were enriched in the aberrantly differentiated endocrine/exocrine subtype (ADEX) cells whereas squamous cells, previously named quasimesenchymal, harbor lesser enrichment of those genes (20,21).

The mouse model developed by D. Tuveson using the Cre-Lox strategy using Pdx1 (key transcription factor in pancreatic fate) promoter-driven, displays the pancreatic tissue specific expression of a constitutively active mutant K-Ras^{G12D} (22-24). In this model that harbors Cre-recombination in all pancreatic cell lineages, expression of the K-Ras^{G12D} is sufficient to induce occurrence of Pancreatic Intraepithelial Neoplasia (PanINs) highlighting its major role in the initiation of pancreatic carcinogenesis. *Ptf1/P48-Cre* (exocrine Cre expression), *LoxStopLox(LSL)-K-ras^{G12D}* mice develop a similar spectrum of ductal and PanIN lesions (22). These K-ras^{G12D} mice are usually referred as KC mice. Using elastase promoter-driven recombinase Cre (acinar cells), Ji and colleagues showed that an increase above threshold of Ras activity intensity leads to senescence of acinar cells, promotes inflammation and induces fibrosis mimicking histologic features of human chronic pancreatitis (CP), acinar-ductal metaplasia and PanIN lesions (25). Once these lesions appeared, K-RAS remains an

essential actor to their survival and progress although a slow evolution that requires additional genetic events such as Trp53, Ink4a/ARF, Smad4 tumor suppressor mutations to form invasive adenocarcinoma (25-29). Characterization of an inducible oncogenic K-Ras model (*iK-ras p53^{L/+}*) showed that K-Ras^{G12D} is required for PDAC maintenance as K-Ras extinction (by doxycycline removal) led to rapid tumor regression and degeneration of stromal compartment (30). Other genetic events such as GNAS^{R201H} or loss of TIF1 γ lead to distinct cancer phenotypes and notably promote the intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm (IPMN)-to-PDAC progression (31,32). Once pancreatic adenocarcinoma is developed, K-RAS still participates in the tumor cell-proliferation, -survival and -migration as well as in chemoresistance abilities (28,33-35). Signature of K-RAS dependency/addiction genes was determined and was shown to be associated with epithelial differentiation (e.g. integrin- β 6) (35) and corresponds to classical subtype described by Collisson (21). On the contrary, K-RAS independent phenotype, occurring in later stages of PDAC, is linked to a metabolic adaptation relying on increase mitochondrial adaptation (36).

Recently, the use of PDAC organoids cultures expanded and allowed new avenues in fundamental and clinical research regarding pancreatic cancer (37). Expression of mutant K-RAS protein in progenitor organoids induces morphological changes such as cystic organization with apically positioned nuclei that are consistent with early pancreatic tumor lesions (38). Therefore, these progenitor organoids are suggested as models to investigate early stages of cancer transformation. Organoids culture also allows study of normal pancreatic cells without immortalization and thus enables comparisons of normal and tumor cells retaining patient-specific traits. Organoids may be used to predict clinical responses and are essential for drug screening (38).

3. K-RAS is central in cellular signaling network

Activated K-RAS mutants participate in a tremendous diversity of biological events by interconnecting regulation of several signaling pathways (39,40) (**Figure 2**). The best characterized direct effectors lead to the activation of the Mitogen-Activated Protein Kinase (MAPK), Phosphoinositide 3-Kinase (PI3K) and RalGEF (Ral Guanidine exchange factor) pathways (41-48). Stress response (p38 and c-Jun N-terminal Kinase (JNK)) and Nuclear Factor-kappa B (NF-κB) pathways are also induced by K-RAS activation, either by interconnection with other activated signaling pathways or by oncogenic stress signals such as production of reactive oxygen species (5,41,49) (**Figure 2**).

In pancreatic cancer, activation of the MAPK pathway is associated with a bad prognosis (50). Recruitment of RAF effector and subsequent activation of the ERKs pathway by K-RAS promotes proliferation and independent anchorage-growth of pancreatic tumor cells (25,51). ERKs activation is also involved in the survival/apoptosis balance (52) and in migration and invasion properties of pancreatic tumors (53,54). Finally, the activation of ERK1/2 MAPK pathway contributes to tumor cell chemoresistance (55) and to inflammation (56).

The implication of p38-MAPKs pathway is controversial in carcinogenesis. Although, this pathway promotes invasive abilities of pancreatic tumors (57), the detection of its activation is associated with a good prognosis (58). The effect of JNK activation is opposed to that of p38 MAPK pathway. The activation of JNK pathway by K-RAS promotes pancreatic tumor formation and cancer stem cell maintenance (59). The pathway is also involved in autophagic processes increasing survival of tumor cells (60). Finally, JNK pathway is involved in the occurrence of chemoresistance and invasion of pancreatic tumor cells (53,61).

The NF- κ B pathway, which is indirectly activated by K-RAS, is constitutively activated in pancreatic cancer (62). The canonical NF- κ B signaling leads to activation of p65/p50 complex and involves IKK complex (I κ B kinase). This cytoplasmic complex consists in IKK α and IKK β kinases associated with the protein NEMO (=IKK ϵ) (63,64). NF- κ B is mainly

described as activated by stress and pro-inflammatory signals but also displays important interconnections with other pathways. The NF- κ B pathway plays an essential role in carcinogenesis and inflammation through an amplification loop of K-RAS activity (65-67). The NF- κ B is also involved in invasion and metastases properties of the pancreatic tumor cells (68).

PI3Ks are a family of heterodimeric kinases composed of p110 catalytic and regulatory subunits that lead to phosphatidylinositol triphosphate (PIP3) production and activation of downstream signals and biological processes (69). The key downstream effectors of PI3K signaling such as Akt or GSK3 are activated in KC mice (70). PI3K signaling enhances acinar-ductal metaplasia (ADM) that generate duct from acinar cells. These ADM lesions will evolve towards PanIN lesions (71). Pancreas-specific invalidation of p110α isoform (kinase dead) prevent occurrence of all type of lesions. Interestingly, pancreatic invalidation of the other p110β isoform did not affect PanIN formation in an activated K-RAS context (72). K-RAS4B isoform can also interact with calcium modulator protein calmodulin via HVR and modulates preferentially PI3K/Akt rather than RAF/MEK/ERK pathway (73).

The RalA/B pathway, initially described as a minor actor in transformation in rodents, is an essential component of RAS transformation in human cells (41,74,75). In pancreatic cancer, Ral GTPases are activated by K-RAS and are involved in anchorage-independent growth and survival (76,77). RalA promotes tumor initiation whereas RalB is essential for invasion and metastasis (76). Ral GTPase pathway is also involved in pancreatic tumor chemo- and radio-resistance (78,79).

Overall, more than 100 proteins containing putative RAS-association (RA) or RAS binding domains (RBDs) were described (41,80) (**Figure 2**): T-lymphoma invasion and metastasis protein-1 (Tiam1) is a Rac-GEF harboring a RBD and activates JNK pathways. RAS association domain family (RASSF) contains a RAS domain lacking catalytic function. RASSFs act as tumor suppressors and are involved in apoptotic processes. Nore1 binds to

RAS-like GTPases and heterodimerizes with RASSFs (81). The RAS inhibition (RINs) GEF links RAS signaling and receptor-mediated endocytosis via the activation of Rab5 (82). RAS was also proposed to allow convergence of signals from PLC, AF6 and PKCζ (41).

Among pathways undergoing genetic alterations in PDAC, K-RAS was also linked to Wnt and Hippo pathways. K-RAS is able to repress the Frizzled 8 (Frz8) and CaMKII-mediated non-canonical Wnt/Ca2+ signaling pathway *via* direct calmodulin binding (83) thereby relaxing the suppression of the canonical Wnt signaling, which occurs by blocking βcatenin/TCF4 interaction (84,85). Indeed, enhanced Wnt/β-catenin signaling has been observed in human PDAC tissues. The Hippo/MST1/2 pathway includes the coactivator Yesassociated protein (YAP) which is abundantly expressed in the PanIN lesions of *p48-Cre; LSL-K-ras^{G12D}* mice. The Hippo/MST1/2 pathway plays a crucial role in regulating tissue homeostasis and organ size (86). The oncogenic K-Ras–MAPK pathway induces posttranscriptional modification of YAP that inactivates YAP-mediated signaling (87). However, YAP is also associated with K-Ras^{G12D}-independent tumor maintenance (88).

4. K-RAS regulates a great diversity of biological processes

4.1. Understanding K-RAS and intrinsic biological properties of PDAC cells: the contribution of transcriptomes

As K-RAS mutations control a wide array of cell signaling pathways (**Figure 2**), it was expected that these mutations might regulate a tremendous diversity of genes involved in every biological property that defines hallmarks of cancer (proliferative signaling, evading growth suppressors, resisting cell death, enabling replicative immortality, inducing angiogenesis, and activating invasion and metastasis) (89). As previously described, the *K*-*Ras*^{G12D} mutant mouse model is associated with 100 % occurrence of PanINs highlighting the mandatory role of K-Ras in the initiation of pancreatic carcinogenesis (22). Characterization

of mice expressing reversible iKras^{G12D} indicates that K-Ras is also mandatory for tumor survival and maintenance (27).

Moreover, K-Ras regulates the abilities of tumor cell chemoresistance (90). Indeed, K-Ras is described as central in the proliferation regulation circuit but is also connected with motility and viability regulatory circuits. At this stage, microarray-based transcriptome analysis allowed a global view of K-ras target genes in pancreatic cancer. These genes are involved in functions such as transcription, proteolysis, cell proliferation, cell death, adhesion, cell surface receptor or intracellular signaling (91). In Table 1, we present the gene ontology clustering obtained by analyzing three available PDAC expression data sets retrieved from Gene Omnibus Expression database and compared the mutated vs wild type K-ras transcriptomes. PDAC bearing Pdx1-Cre ; K-ras^{G12D} mice show a strong enrichment in gene clusters involved in protein glycosylation, inflammatory response, extracellular matrix or protease activity, (GSE53695, (92)). Ablation of K-Ras in mouse pancreas, using a tetracycline-inducible K-Ras allele, leads to an important enrichment of intracellular organelle genes and a mild enrichment of genes involved in non-coding or ribosomal RNA processing and protein trafficking (GSE58307, (36)). The succession of K-ras activation-inactivationreactivation in pancreatic tumor spheres also revealed an enrichment of genes involved in metabolic pathways and notably highlighted an increased mitochondrial activity (36). The surviving cells following K-Ras-ablation harbor an increase oxidative phosphorylation (OXPHOS) similarly to what is observed in patients resistant to MEK or PI3K targeting highlighting the promise of combined K-Ras and mitochondrial respiration targeting (36). Analysis of deregulated genes in K-Ras addicted pancreatic cancer cell lines revealed enrichment of gene expression signature involved in various biological processes such as metal and ion bindings, apical and basal plasma membrane cytoskeletal protein binding, fatty acid metabolic process and vesicular cell systems (GSE15126, (35)). K-Ras dependency signature genes such as SYK, integrin-ß6 (ITGB6) and MST1R are related with both epithelial differentiation state and well- to moderately-differentiated tumor phenotype (35).

Altogether this highlights the intrinsic pivotal role of K-Ras activation in pancreatic cancer cells and how it is linked to tumor growth and metastasis (**Figure 3**).

4.2. Cell metabolism reprogramming

A common feature of cancer cells is described as the Warburg effect which is an increase in glucose uptake and a shift from mitochondrial oxidative phosphorylation to aerobic glycolysis (93). This metabolic shift allows generating energy and nutrients in order to survive in a generally hypoxic and energetic inhospitable environment. Indeed, K-RAS-transformed human cells show glucose and glutamine metabolism alteration (94-96). K-Ras^{G12D} extinction alters multiple metabolic pathways. Notably, K-Ras^{G12D} promotes the glycolytic flux by increasing glucose uptake and lactate production through increase of glucose transporters (glut1/Slc2a1), crucial glycolytic enzymes (Hk1, Hk2, Pfkl, Ldha), enzyme of the hexosamine pathway (Gfpt1) and non-oxidative pentose phosphate pathway (PPP) enzymes (Rpia and Rpe). These genes are regulated at the transcriptional level via MAPK and Myc signaling pathways, both affected by K-Ras activation. Moreover, K-ras^{G12D} activates the hexosamine biosynthesis pathway (HBP) affecting protein O-glycosylation and non-oxydative PPP generation for ribose production (30). Interestingly, lactate that is produced by glycolytic cells in hypoxic area is used for normoxic cells growth in a paracrine manner (97). PDAC cells harbor an increased expression of lactate transporter MCT4 that reflects glycolytic activity and promotes cell survival and tumorigenic growth (98). K-Ras activation also contributes to stimulating glutamine (Gln) metabolism by transcriptional repression of glutamate dehydrogenase (GLUD1) and induction of aspartate aminotransferase (GOT1) expression and thus coordinates the switch to Gln metabolism that is critical to maintain tumor growth and survival probably via the redox balance (99). The oncogenic Reactive Oxygen Species (ROS) levels are tightly regulated by Nrf2 transcription factor (100). K-ras^{G12D} drives the increase of Nrf2 transcription via RAF/MEK/ERK/Jun pathway. This Nrf2 increase promotes

the antioxidant program (*Hmox1, Nqo1, Gclc, Gclm, Ggt1*) and decreases the intracellular ROS, thus favors a reduced intracellular redox microenvironment. The characterization of *Nrf2^{KO}* mice showed that activation of ROS by K-Ras/Nrf2 axis contributes to pancreatic carcinogenesis initiation (101). K-Ras-activated organoids also exhibit an increased activation of translation machinery. Combined K-Ras activation and loss of Nrf2 led to oxidation of factors involved in eIF4F complex (involved in cap-dependent mRNA translation), altered EGF and Akt signaling pathways and consequently impaired protein synthesis and maintenance of pancreatic tumors (102). This work highlights the promise of synthetic lethality of combined AKT inhibitors with oxidizing agents in PDAC.

K-Ras also stimulates recycling process such as macrospinocytosis or autophagy. Macrospinocytosis is the uptake of nutrients via endocytosis leading to accumulation of catabolic intermediates that stimulates carbon metabolism and sustains cell proliferation (103). Autophagy is a process addressing cytoplasmic constituents to lysosomes for degradation and is critical for the maintenance of late stages of PDAC. *K-ras^{G12D}* mice develop PanIN lesions harboring markers of autophagosomes (LC3 puncta) in an Atg5/Atg7 dependent manner (104). Therapeutic targeting of autophagy by chloroquinine could be promising. It was initially debated because homozygous *Trp53* deletion led to paradoxical pro-carcinogenic effect following autophagy inhibition suggesting *p53* status dependency (104-106). However, autophagy inhibition is in fact not affected when using the more clinically relevant model harboring *Trp53* loss of heterozygosity as usually observed in patients (107).

4.3. Tumor microenvironment and immune system

Oncogenic RAS alters the tumor microenvironment by promoting angiogenesis and by modulating immune responses. Immune cell infiltration is classically observed in the tumor stroma of PDAC patients. *LSL-K-Ras*^{G12D} immune compartment was characterized and a

high fibro-inflammatory reaction containing both stromal and immune cells was thus shown to emerge within the tumor. Regulatory T cells infiltrate early in disease progression of pancreatic cancer, notably before invasive stage. Disease progression was also accompanied by infiltration of macrophages (early) and Myeloid-derived Suppressor Cells (MDSC) (late) (108). K-Ras activation was previously shown to foster inflammation through chemokine production (CXCL1/KC, CXCL2/MIP2, CXCL5/LIX and CXCL8/IL8) in lung or breast cancer cells (109,110). IL6 secretion is the most characterized cytokine in PDAC as it is induced both by the tumor cells and the myeloid cells from the surrounding stroma and is associated with tumor survival (111-114). Different fibroblastic and epithelial cell types transfected with oncogenic K-RAS^{G12D} had an increased secretion of IL6 which is required for human tumor cell growth in vivo (115). However, among the different cell types, the macrophages were the principal source of IL-6 in PDAC. Paracrine IL6 induces strong phosphorylation of signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) that promotes PanIN-PDAC progression in K-Ras^{G12D} mice (111). In acute pancreatitis, treatment with a RAS inhibitor (farnesylthiosalicylic acid) decreases levels of CXCL1, CXCL2 and IL6 and regulates neutrophil recruitment (116). Zhang and colleagues showed that the K-Ras secretome (CTGF, Cyr61, Cox2, mmp7, IL1A and IL6) of pancreatic cancer cells is regulated by YAP mediated transcriptional activity (87). Its invalidation in Yap^{flox/flox} mice leads to a lack of CD45 lymphocyte infiltration, compromises the activation of stromal fibroblasts and their collagen secretion.

PanINs also produce granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) which subsequently leads to recruitment of Gr1(+)CD11b(+) myeloid cells suppressing anti-tumor CD8+ T-cell immunity (117,118). These mice also harbor a high expression of receptorinteracting-1 (RIP1) and RIP3 kinases that are the main components of a macromolecular signaling complex called the necrosomes mediating the programmed necrose (necroptosis). Necroptotic tumor cells release soluble factors that induce peri-tumoral immune suppression. This immune-suppressive microenvironment relies on the RIP1/3 signaling *via* CXCL1 and

the C-type lectin receptor Mincle signaling (activating NF-κB) to favor tumor progression (119).

Angiogenesis occurs in response to tumor hypoxia and lack of nutrients and is essential for tumor growth. Angiogenesis is defined as the formation of new blood vessel and involves an equilibrium of angiogenic and anti-angiogenic factors (120). VEGF which appears to be critical in pancreatic angiogenesis (121) is correlated with detection of K-RAS mutation and is associated with a poorer prognosis (122). The oncogenic K-RAS^{G12V} induces VEGF, CXC chemokines and COX2 promoting human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVEC) invasion and tumor formation *via* MEK/c-jun pathway (123). Similarly, in colorectal cancer cells, disruption of mutant K-RAS led to a reduced VEGF production (124). In addition, chemokine CXCL8/IL8 was also shown to drive the RAS-induced tumor angiogenesis (110).

Oncogenic K-RAS is crucial in the crosstalk with stroma and notably pancreatic stellate cells (PSC). Additionally to K-RAS cell autonomous effect, both cell types set up a reciprocal signaling involving Sonic hedgehog (SHH) mediated activation of PSC and reciprocal signals via IGFR1/AXL and Akt activity that leads to increased mitochondrial performance, proliferation and resistance to apoptosis (125).

4.4. Mucins

Mucins belong to a heterogeneous group of large O-glycoproteins (secreted or membrane bound) that are expressed by epithelial cells. The extended structure of mucins extracellular domains confer them a role of molecular sensors and in cell–cell, cell–extracellular matrix interactions and in cell signaling. MUC1 and MUC4 were extensively described as key promoters of pancreatic carcinogenesis (126-129). Mucus-producing cells normally restricted to respiratory and intestinal epithelia are observed in PanINs of the *K-Ras^{G12D}* mouse model (22). Indeed, membrane-bound Muc1 and Muc4 and secreted Muc5ac are aberrantly expressed during pancreatic cancer progression (PanINs, primary tumors and metastases)

(130). Interestingly, mucin expression is correlated with an increase of inflammatory cytokines IFN- γ , CXCL1 and CXCL2. Recently, we also showed that MUC4 is a target of K-Ras^{G12D} mutation *via* both transcriptional (p42/44 MAPK and p65 NF- κ B) and post-transcriptional (RalB) mechanisms (131). Therefore, we hypothesize that mucins, as K-RAS target genes, could be promising therapeutic tools for gene therapy and immunotherapeutic approaches in pancreatic cancer (126).

4.5. miRNA-mediated gene regulation

MicroRNAs (miRNA) are 22-24 nucleotides-long non coding RNAs that regulate expression of mRNA mostly by binding their 3'-untranslated region (UTR) and emerge as major posttranscriptional regulatory mechanisms with potential therapeutic interest. MiRNA expression pattern is profoundly altered in carcinogenesis where they can act as tumor suppressor or oncomiR depending on the panel of their targets (132-135). Laser capture microdissection of PanIN tissues of *K-Ras^{G12D}* mice led to the identification of miR-21, miR-205 and miR-200 as all induced by K-Ras (136). In addition, miR-155, that is also induced by K-Ras, mediates cell proliferation through ROS accumulation (49). On the contrary, the tumor-suppressors miR-29a, miR-330-5p and miR-219-1-3p are decreased in PanIN lesions (137,138). Finally, some miRNA, such as miR-96, miR-217 and Let7 were shown to directly regulate K-Ras expression or alter its associated signaling pathways and could be considered as potential therapeutic strategies (139-141).

5. K-RAS as a therapeutic target

As a central point of pancreatic carcinogenesis, K-RAS is an obvious and bona fide therapeutic target. In the next section, we describe strategies that were designed at various levels: (i) direct targeting of the K-RAS protein, (ii) indirect K-RAS targeting of the protein

location and (iii) targeting K-RAS oncogenic activity by interfering with its downstream effectors (142) (**Figure 4**).

5.1. Direct targeting of K-RAS activity

The first strategy to inhibit K-RAS expression was the development of small antisense nucleotides sequences directly targeting *K-RAS* mRNA. The ISI6957 oligonucleotide showed efficient inhibition of K-RAS expression *in vitro* (143). However, its stability and the strong toxicity did not allow a clinical use.

Despite of this failure, the strategy was optimized and Khvalevsky and colleagues developed a local prolonged siRNA delivery system (Local Drug EluteR, LODER) (144). Use of a biodegradable polymer, allowing RNA protection from degradation, reduces the toxicity. Although encouraging, this strategy needs to be further improved and therefore is still not clinically usable (145).

A specific and irreversible inhibitor of the K-RAS^{G12C} mutant induces an internal steric bulk blocking the conformational change necessary for activation (146,147). However, the G12C mutation remains rare in pancreatic cancer (3 % of K-RAS mutations) and other compounds targeting the G12D and G12V main mutants remain to be developed. The compound ARS-853 reacts with GDP-bound K-RAS^{G12C} isoform, and alters downstream signaling, and cell survival in K-RAS^{G12C} cell lines (148). ARS-853 is thought to impair normal SOS recruitment and strengthens the SOS targeting strategy that was previously developed thanks to the knowledge of well-defined binding pockets (149,150).

Targeting K-RAS-GTP interaction is considered as not feasible because of the high affinity of K-RAS for the GTP (pico molar range) and the strong intracellular concentration of GTP (milli molar range). An alternative strategy was to modify the GTP in order to make it hydrolysable by the mutant. The GTP analog DABP-GTP (Diamino-benzophenone-phosphoroamidate-

GTP) can be hydrolyzed by G12 mutants more effectively than by wild type K-RAS (151). However, no compound derived from this strategy has passed beyond the *in vitro* studies.

5.2. Indirect targeting of K-RAS oncogene by altering its localization

5.2.1. Prenylation inhibitor

Other therapeutic strategies target post-translational modifications of the K-RAS protein, necessary for its membrane location. The first post-translational modification of K-RAS proteins is a modification of its HVR region. The farnesyl transferase enzyme (FTase) mediate farnesylation/prenylation on the cysteine of the terminal CAAX sequence adding a hydrophobic chain allowing membrane stabilization (152). Numerous inhibitors of FTase were developed to target this modification and inhibit K-RAS addressing to the membrane (153,154). The non-peptidomimetic competitive FTI, Tipifarnib (R115777), was tested in phase III trials in pancreatic cancer (155,156) but was ineffective because of an unexpected alternative prenylation mechanism (geranylgeranylation) involving geranylgeranyl transferase (GGTase) (157). GGT-I can recognize the CAAL motif and geranylates K-RAS4B. Combined therapies using inhibitors of FTase and GGT-I display high toxicity precluding their use in clinic (158).

5.2.2. Icmt1 inhibitors

The K-RAS protein undergoes a cleavage of the AAX terminal sequence followed by a methylation of the formed isoprenylcysteine. These two stages are successively catalysed by two enzymes: The endoprotease RAS converting enzyme 1 (Rce1) and Isoprenylcysteine carboxymethyl transferase 1 (Icmt1), respectively. The targeting of these two key enzymes was investigated. Since Rce1 inhibition induces severe cardiomyopathies, the efforts focused on Icmt1 inhibition (159,160). Icmt1 targeting was developed in cancers and in particular in

pancreatic cancer. However, Icmt1 inhibition dramatically accelerated the development of K-Ras-driven pancreatic neoplasia because of its requirement for Notch1 signaling (161).

5.2.3. Deltarasin, the PDEδ inhibitor

K-RAS addressing to the plasma membrane involves the hydrophobic prenylation trafficking process by the prenyl-binding chaperon protein: the phospho diesterase 6δ (PDE6δ/ PDEδ). Deltarasin, an inhibitor of the PDEδ, showed promising results. Indeed, Deltarasin blocks PDEδ-K-RAS interaction preventing membrane localization in human K-RAS mutated pancreatic tumor cells, hence inducing a fast decrease of proliferation and increased apoptosis. In vivo, pancreatic tumor cells xenografts showed a dose dependent reduction of tumor growth following Deltarasin regimen (162,163). Clinical use of this recent strategy remains to be proven.

5.3. K-RAS downstream pathway targeting

A large number of inhibitors targeting components of K-RAS oncogene downstream signaling pathways were developed (164-166). Targeted therapies were focused on the MAPK pathway and led to the development of RAF and MEK inhibitors (167,168). In the context of pancreatic cancer, RAF inhibitors were ineffective. This may be related to the paradoxical induction of increased MAPK activity via a decreased feedback regulation as it was demonstrated with PLX4032 in melanoma (169). RAF inhibitors lack of effectiveness could be related to the binary recruitment of RAF by activated K-RAS in nanoclusters (10). MEK kinases were also targeted by compounds such as CI-1040 but induced only partial response in pancreatic cancers independently of the K-ras mutation status (170). Another MEK inhibitor, Selumetinib (AZD6244), led to promising results on preclinical models but eventually failed in the clinical trial as it showed not significant benefit as second line

treatment (171-173). Pimasertib is associated with sensitivity to gemcitabine and is currently under clinical evaluation (174). These failures are probably due to strong interconnections between signaling pathways (166,167). As MAPK and PI3K seem to be the major deregulated signaling pathways, combined MEK-PI3K inhibition is under evaluation in a cellular and mouse models of pancreatic cancer (173,175). PI3K targeting alone by using Evolorimus (mTOR inhibitor) has been evaluated in phase 2 clinical trial but only showed minimal clinical benefit (176). Very recently, Rigosertib, a RAS mimetic that is evaluated in clinical trials for myelodisplastic syndrome associated with acute myeloid leukemia, has been proposed for PDAC treatment. Rigosertib binds to RBD and thus inhibits the interaction of RAS-RAF, Ral and PI3K, blocks the activation of the RAS-RAF-MEK pathway and impairs tumor growth in *K-Ras^{G12D}* mice (177). PKC inhibitor bryostatin-1 blocks K-RAS-S181 phosphorylation by PKC and induces apoptosis by inducing the K-RAS delocalization onto the mitochondrial membrane (178). Inhibition of other pathways, such as JNK and NF-κB was also investigated. However, most of these treatments are still either in experimental stages and are not yet used routinely in clinics (59,164,168,179-183).

5.4 Synthetic lethal interaction with K-RAS

An alternative strategy that has been developed is to identify new therapeutic target linked to K-RAS status: RNAi screening were performed in cell lines from different organs that were either K-RAS wild-type or K-RAS mutated in order to select genes that specifically impair viability of K-RAS mutated cells (153). Hit-genes involved in different biological processes were identified such as genes involved in survival signals (TAK1, TBK1), transcriptional program (GATA2, SNAIL2), chromosomal stability (Survivin, TPX2, PLK1, APC/C, proteasome) and apoptosis/senescence (WT1, Bcl^{XL}). Future research will be necessary to validate those targets in PDAC. Following the initial screening, the top candidates including GATA2 and PLK1 were further evaluated as new therapeutic targets (184,185). Very few

analyses were focused on pancreatic cancer. 187 genes were identified and were enriched with the immune system, the ETS and the LAIR pathways (186).

6. Conclusions

More than 50 years after the inception of RAS research in 1964 showing that a retroviral isolate induced sarcoma; and the beginning of RAS characterization in the early 80s; the scientific community has produced huge efforts in deciphering RAS structure, biological functions, cell-signaling mechanisms and identifying target genes in patho-physiological conditions (187). K-RAS oncogene has been proven to be a central driver in cancers. K-RAS mutation, as the earliest event in pancreatic cancer, could be seen as the "starting pistol" of carcinogenesis sequence. Targeting K-RAS is an obvious goal but it has been an unfortunate clinic failure despite many different strategies (153) highlighting the urgent need for new approaches. Targeting cell adaptative metabolic mechanisms occurring after K-RAS activation via KPM2 or the non-specific OXPHOS inhibitor Metformin is promising (188). Recently, checkpoint inhibitors/immune modulators such as antibodies targeting the programmed cell death protein 1 (PD-1) are promising targets in gastrointestinal cancer, including pancreatic cancer, and are a hot topic in the field (189). Based on this literature review, one can suggest that targeting K-RAS effectors (cell signaling or miRNA) or some crucial target genes may be a potential alternative strategy. Lately, FOLFIRINOX and Nab-Paclitaxel emerge as new standard of care but the overall survival still does not exceed one year (190,191) and pancreatic cancer remains one of the deadliest cancers; Therefore, no option should be excluded.

Conflicts of interest: Authors declare no conflict of interest

References

- 1. Wennerberg K, Rossman KL, Der CJ. The Ras superfamily at a glance. J Cell Sci 2005;118(Pt 5):843-6.
- 2. Saad, II, Saha SB, Thomas G. The RAS subfamily Evolution tracing evolution for its utmost exploitation. Bioinformation 2014;10(5):293-8.
- 3. van Dam TJ, Bos JL, Snel B. Evolution of the Ras-like small GTPases and their regulators. Small GTPases 2011;2(1):4-16.
- 4. Tsai FD, Lopes MS, Zhou M, Court H, Ponce O, Fiordalisi JJ, et al. K-Ras4A splice variant is widely expressed in cancer and uses a hybrid membrane-targeting motif. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2015;112(3):779-84.
- 5. Schubbert S, Shannon K, Bollag G. Hyperactive Ras in developmental disorders and cancer. Nat Rev Cancer 2007;7(4):295-308.
- 6. Feig LA. Tools of the trade: use of dominant-inhibitory mutants of Ras-family GTPases. Nat Cell Biol 1999;1(2):E25-7.
- Chavan TS, Jang H, Khavrutskii L, Abraham SJ, Banerjee A, Freed BC, et al. High-Affinity Interaction of the K-Ras4B Hypervariable Region with the Ras Active Site. Biophys J 2015;109(12):2602-13.
- 8. Prior IA, Muncke C, Parton RG, Hancock JF. Direct visualization of Ras proteins in spatially distinct cell surface microdomains. J Cell Biol 2003;160(2):165-70.
- 9. Zhou Y, Wong CO, Cho KJ, van der Hoeven D, Liang H, Thakur DP, et al. SIGNAL TRANSDUCTION. Membrane potential modulates plasma membrane phospholipid dynamics and K-Ras signaling. Science 2015;349(6250):873-6.
- 10. Tian T, Harding A, Inder K, Plowman S, Parton RG, Hancock JF. Plasma membrane nanoswitches generate high-fidelity Ras signal transduction. Nat Cell Biol 2007;9(8):905-14.
- 11. Zhou Y, Hancock JF. Ras nanoclusters: Versatile lipid-based signaling platforms. Biochim Biophys Acta 2015;1853(4):841-9.
- 12. Bivona TG, Quatela SE, Bodemann BO, Ahearn IM, Soskis MJ, Mor A, et al. PKC regulates a farnesyl-electrostatic switch on K-Ras that promotes its association with Bcl-XL on mitochondria and induces apoptosis. Mol Cell 2006;21(4):481-93.
- 13. Alvarez-Moya B, Lopez-Alcala C, Drosten M, Bachs O, Agell N. K-Ras4B phosphorylation at Ser181 is inhibited by calmodulin and modulates K-Ras activity and function. Oncogene 2010;29(44):5911-22.
- 14. Bos JL, Rehmann H, Wittinghofer A. GEFs and GAPs: critical elements in the control of small G proteins. Cell 2007;129(5):865-77.
- 15. Khrenova MG, Mironov VA, Grigorenko BL, Nemukhin AV. Modeling the role of G12V and G13V Ras mutations in the Ras-GAP-catalyzed hydrolysis reaction of guanosine triphosphate. Biochemistry 2014;53(45):7093-9.
- 16. Buhrman G, Holzapfel G, Fetics S, Mattos C. Allosteric modulation of Ras positions Q61 for a direct role in catalysis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2010;107(11):4931-6.
- 17. Vincent A, Herman J, Schulick R, Hruban RH, Goggins M. Pancreatic cancer. Lancet 2011;378(9791):607-20.
- Bournet B, Muscari F, Buscail C, Assenat E, Barthet M, Hammel P, et al. KRAS G12D Mutation Subtype Is A Prognostic Factor for Advanced Pancreatic Adenocarcinoma. Clin Transl Gastroenterol 2016;7:e157.
- 19. Bournet B, Muscari F, Guimbaud R, Cordelier P, Buscail L. KRAS mutations and their correlation with survival of patients with advanced pancreatic cancer. Pancreas 2013;42(3):543-4.

- 20. Bailey P, Chang DK, Nones K, Johns AL, Patch AM, Gingras MC, et al. Genomic analyses identify molecular subtypes of pancreatic cancer. Nature 2016;531(7592):47-52.
- 21. Collisson EA, Sadanandam A, Olson P, Gibb WJ, Truitt M, Gu S, et al. Subtypes of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma and their differing responses to therapy. Nat Med 2011;17(4):500-3.
- 22. Hingorani SR, Petricoin EF, Maitra A, Rajapakse V, King C, Jacobetz MA, et al. Preinvasive and invasive ductal pancreatic cancer and its early detection in the mouse. Cancer Cell 2003;4(6):437-50.
- 23. Kim SK, MacDonald RJ. Signaling and transcriptional control of pancreatic organogenesis. Curr Opin Genet Dev 2002;12(5):540-7.
- 24. Herreros-Villanueva M, Hijona E, Cosme A, Bujanda L. Mouse models of pancreatic cancer. World J Gastroenterol 2012;18(12):1286-94.
- 25. Ji B, Tsou L, Wang H, Gaiser S, Chang DZ, Daniluk J, et al. Ras activity levels control the development of pancreatic diseases. Gastroenterology 2009;137(3):1072-82, 82 e1-6.
- 26. Aguirre AJ, Bardeesy N, Sinha M, Lopez L, Tuveson DA, Horner J, et al. Activated Kras and Ink4a/Arf deficiency cooperate to produce metastatic pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Genes Dev 2003;17(24):3112-26.
- 27. Collins MA, Bednar F, Zhang Y, Brisset JC, Galban S, Galban CJ, et al. Oncogenic Kras is required for both the initiation and maintenance of pancreatic cancer in mice. J Clin Invest 2012;122(2):639-53.
- 28. Collins MA, Brisset JC, Zhang Y, Bednar F, Pierre J, Heist KA, et al. Metastatic pancreatic cancer is dependent on oncogenic Kras in mice. PLoS One 2012;7(12):e49707.
- 29. Bardeesy N, Cheng KH, Berger JH, Chu GC, Pahler J, Olson P, et al. Smad4 is dispensable for normal pancreas development yet critical in progression and tumor biology of pancreas cancer. Genes Dev 2006;20(22):3130-46.
- 30. Ying H, Kimmelman AC, Lyssiotis CA, Hua S, Chu GC, Fletcher-Sananikone E, et al. Oncogenic Kras maintains pancreatic tumors through regulation of anabolic glucose metabolism. Cell 2012;149(3):656-70.
- 31. Taki K, Ohmuraya M, Tanji E, Komatsu H, Hashimoto D, Semba K, et al. GNAS(R201H) and Kras(G12D) cooperate to promote murine pancreatic tumorigenesis recapitulating human intraductal papillary mucinous neoplasm. Oncogene 2016;35(18):2407-12.
- 32. Vincent DF, Gout J, Chuvin N, Arfi V, Pommier RM, Bertolino P, et al. Tif1gamma suppresses murine pancreatic tumoral transformation by a Smad4-independent pathway. Am J Pathol 2012;180(6):2214-21.
- 33. Bryant KL, Mancias JD, Kimmelman AC, Der CJ. KRAS: feeding pancreatic cancer proliferation. Trends Biochem Sci 2014;39(2):91-100.
- 34. Rejiba S, Wack S, Aprahamian M, Hajri A. K-ras oncogene silencing strategy reduces tumor growth and enhances gemcitabine chemotherapy efficacy for pancreatic cancer treatment. Cancer Sci 2007;98(7):1128-36.
- 35. Singh A, Greninger P, Rhodes D, Koopman L, Violette S, Bardeesy N, et al. A gene expression signature associated with "K-Ras addiction" reveals regulators of EMT and tumor cell survival. Cancer Cell 2009;15(6):489-500.
- 36. Viale A, Pettazzoni P, Lyssiotis CA, Ying H, Sanchez N, Marchesini M, et al. Oncogene ablationresistant pancreatic cancer cells depend on mitochondrial function. Nature 2014;514(7524):628-32.
- 37. Baker LA, Tiriac H, Clevers H, Tuveson DA. Modeling pancreatic cancer with organoids. Trends Cancer 2016;2(4):176-90.
- 38. Huang L, Holtzinger A, Jagan I, BeGora M, Lohse I, Ngai N, et al. Ductal pancreatic cancer modeling and drug screening using human pluripotent stem cell- and patient-derived tumor organoids. Nat Med 2015;21(11):1364-71.
- 39. Herrmann C. Ras-effector interactions: after one decade. Curr Opin Struct Biol 2003;13(1):122-9.
- 40. Herrmann C, Nassar N. Ras and its effectors. Prog Biophys Mol Biol 1996;66(1):1-41.

- 41. Rajalingam K, Schreck R, Rapp UR, Albert S. Ras oncogenes and their downstream targets. Biochim Biophys Acta 2007;1773(8):1177-95.
- 42. Feig LA, Urano T, Cantor S. Evidence for a Ras/Ral signaling cascade. Trends Biochem Sci 1996;21(11):438-41.
- 43. Shields JM, Pruitt K, McFall A, Shaub A, Der CJ. Understanding Ras: 'it ain't over 'til it's over'. Trends Cell Biol 2000;10(4):147-54.
- 44. Moodie SA, Willumsen BM, Weber MJ, Wolfman A. Complexes of Ras.GTP with Raf-1 and mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase. Science 1993;260(5114):1658-61.
- 45. Rodriguez-Viciana P, Warne PH, Dhand R, Vanhaesebroeck B, Gout I, Fry MJ, et al. Phosphatidylinositol-3-OH kinase as a direct target of Ras. Nature 1994;370(6490):527-32.
- 46. Sjolander A, Yamamoto K, Huber BE, Lapetina EG. Association of p21ras with phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1991;88(18):7908-12.
- 47. Peterson SN, Trabalzini L, Brtva TR, Fischer T, Altschuler DL, Martelli P, et al. Identification of a novel RalGDS-related protein as a candidate effector for Ras and Rap1. J Biol Chem 1996;271(47):29903-8.
- 48. White MA, Vale T, Camonis JH, Schaefer E, Wigler MH. A role for the Ral guanine nucleotide dissociation stimulator in mediating Ras-induced transformation. J Biol Chem 1996;271(28):16439-42.
- 49. Wang P, Zhu CF, Ma MZ, Chen G, Song M, Zeng ZL, et al. Micro-RNA-155 is induced by K-Ras oncogenic signal and promotes ROS stress in pancreatic cancer. Oncotarget 2015;6(25):21148-58.
- 50. Handra-Luca A, Lesty C, Hammel P, Sauvanet A, Rebours V, Martin A, et al. Biological and prognostic relevance of mitogen-activated protein kinases in pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Pancreas 2012;41(3):416-21.
- 51. Tuveson DA, Shaw AT, Willis NA, Silver DP, Jackson EL, Chang S, et al. Endogenous oncogenic K-ras(G12D) stimulates proliferation and widespread neoplastic and developmental defects. Cancer Cell 2004;5(4):375-87.
- 52. Neuzillet C, Hammel P, Tijeras-Raballand A, Couvelard A, Raymond E. Targeting the Ras-ERK pathway in pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Cancer Metastasis Rev 2013;32(1-2):147-62.
- 53. Endo H, Watanabe T, Sugioka Y, Niioka M, Inagaki Y, Okazaki I. Activation of two distinct MAPK pathways governs constitutive expression of matrix metalloproteinase-1 in human pancreatic cancer cell lines. Int J Oncol 2009;35(6):1237-45.
- 54. Zhao S, Wang Y, Cao L, Ouellette MM, Freeman JW. Expression of oncogenic K-ras and loss of Smad4 cooperate to induce the expression of EGFR and to promote invasion of immortalized human pancreas ductal cells. Int J Cancer 2010;127(9):2076-87.
- 55. Zheng C, Jiao X, Jiang Y, Sun S. ERK1/2 activity contributes to gemcitabine resistance in pancreatic cancer cells. J Int Med Res 2013;41(2):300-6.
- 56. Shin SY, Choi C, Lee HG, Lim Y, Lee YH. Transcriptional regulation of the interleukin-11 gene by oncogenic Ras. Carcinogenesis 2012;33(12):2467-76.
- 57. Taniuchi K, Furihata M, Hanazaki K, Iwasaki S, Tanaka K, Shimizu T, et al. Peroxiredoxin 1 promotes pancreatic cancer cell invasion by modulating p38 MAPK activity. Pancreas 2015;44(2):331-40.
- 58. Korc M. p38 MAPK in pancreatic cancer: finding a protective needle in the haystack. Clin Cancer Res 2014;20(23):5866-8.
- 59. Okada M, Shibuya K, Sato A, Seino S, Suzuki S, Seino M, et al. Targeting the K-Ras--JNK axis eliminates cancer stem-like cells and prevents pancreatic tumor formation. Oncotarget 2014;5(13):5100-12.
- 60. Kang R, Tang D. Autophagy in pancreatic cancer pathogenesis and treatment. Am J Cancer Res 2012;2(4):383-96.
- 61. Liu F, Gore AJ, Wilson JL, Korc M. DUSP1 is a novel target for enhancing pancreatic cancer cell sensitivity to gemcitabine. PLoS One 2014;9(1):e84982.

- 62. Sclabas GM, Fujioka S, Schmidt C, Evans DB, Chiao PJ. NF-kappaB in pancreatic cancer. Int J Gastrointest Cancer 2003;33(1):15-26.
- 63. Joyce D, Albanese C, Steer J, Fu M, Bouzahzah B, Pestell RG. NF-kappaB and cell-cycle regulation: the cyclin connection. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev 2001;12(1):73-90.
- 64. Viatour P, Merville MP, Bours V, Chariot A. Phosphorylation of NF-kappaB and IkappaB proteins: implications in cancer and inflammation. Trends Biochem Sci 2005;30(1):43-52.
- 65. Daniluk J, Liu Y, Deng D, Chu J, Huang H, Gaiser S, et al. An NF-kappaB pathway-mediated positive feedback loop amplifies Ras activity to pathological levels in mice. J Clin Invest 2012;122(4):1519-28.
- 66. Ling J, Kang Y, Zhao R, Xia Q, Lee DF, Chang Z, et al. KrasG12D-induced IKK2/beta/NF-kappaB activation by IL-1alpha and p62 feedforward loops is required for development of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Cancer Cell 2012;21(1):105-20.
- 67. Prabhu L, Mundade R, Korc M, Loehrer PJ, Lu T. Critical role of NF-kappaB in pancreatic cancer. Oncotarget 2014;5(22):10969-75.
- 68. Rachagani S, Senapati S, Chakraborty S, Ponnusamy MP, Kumar S, Smith LM, et al. Activated KrasG(1)(2)D is associated with invasion and metastasis of pancreatic cancer cells through inhibition of E-cadherin. Br J Cancer 2011;104(6):1038-48.
- 69. Engelman JA. Targeting PI3K signalling in cancer: opportunities, challenges and limitations. Nat Rev Cancer 2009;9(8):550-62.
- 70. Eser S, Reiff N, Messer M, Seidler B, Gottschalk K, Dobler M, et al. Selective requirement of PI3K/PDK1 signaling for Kras oncogene-driven pancreatic cell plasticity and cancer. Cancer Cell 2013;23(3):406-20.
- 71. Baer R, Cintas C, Therville N, Guillermet-Guibert J. Implication of PI3K/Akt pathway in pancreatic cancer: When PI3K isoforms matter? Adv Biol Regul 2015;59:19-35.
- 72. Baer R, Cintas C, Dufresne M, Cassant-Sourdy S, Schonhuber N, Planque L, et al. Pancreatic cell plasticity and cancer initiation induced by oncogenic Kras is completely dependent on wild-type PI 3-kinase p110alpha. Genes Dev 2014;28(23):2621-35.
- 73. Nussinov R, Muratcioglu S, Tsai CJ, Jang H, Gursoy A, Keskin O. The Key Role of Calmodulin in KRAS-Driven Adenocarcinomas. Mol Cancer Res 2015;13(9):1265-73.
- 74. Hamad NM, Elconin JH, Karnoub AE, Bai W, Rich JN, Abraham RT, et al. Distinct requirements for Ras oncogenesis in human versus mouse cells. Genes Dev 2002;16(16):2045-57.
- 75. Lim KH, Baines AT, Fiordalisi JJ, Shipitsin M, Feig LA, Cox AD, et al. Activation of RalA is critical for Ras-induced tumorigenesis of human cells. Cancer Cell 2005;7(6):533-45.
- 76. Lim KH, O'Hayer K, Adam SJ, Kendall SD, Campbell PM, Der CJ, et al. Divergent roles for RalA and RalB in malignant growth of human pancreatic carcinoma cells. Curr Biol 2006;16(24):2385-94.
- 77. Vigil D, Martin TD, Williams F, Yeh JJ, Campbell SL, Der CJ. Aberrant overexpression of the Rgl2 Ral small GTPase-specific guanine nucleotide exchange factor promotes pancreatic cancer growth through Ral-dependent and Ral-independent mechanisms. J Biol Chem 2010;285(45):34729-40.
- 78. Kidd AR, 3rd, Snider JL, Martin TD, Graboski SF, Der CJ, Cox AD. Ras-related small GTPases RalA and RalB regulate cellular survival after ionizing radiation. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys 2010;78(1):205-12.
- 79. Seguin L, Kato S, Franovic A, Camargo MF, Lesperance J, Elliott KC, et al. An integrin beta(3)-KRAS-RalB complex drives tumour stemness and resistance to EGFR inhibition. Nat Cell Biol 2014;16(5):457-68.
- 80. Erijman A, Shifman JM. RAS/Effector Interactions from Structural and Biophysical Perspective. Mini Rev Med Chem 2016;16(5):370-5.
- 81. Ortiz-Vega S, Khokhlatchev A, Nedwidek M, Zhang XF, Dammann R, Pfeifer GP, et al. The putative tumor suppressor RASSF1A homodimerizes and heterodimerizes with the Ras-GTP binding protein Nore1. Oncogene 2002;21(9):1381-90.

- 82. Tall GG, Barbieri MA, Stahl PD, Horazdovsky BF. Ras-activated endocytosis is mediated by the Rab5 guanine nucleotide exchange activity of RIN1. Dev Cell 2001;1(1):73-82.
- Wang MT, Holderfield M, Galeas J, Delrosario R, To MD, Balmain A, et al. K-Ras Promotes Tumorigenicity through Suppression of Non-canonical Wnt Signaling. Cell 2015;163(5):1237-51.
- 84. Macdonald BT, Semenov MV, He X. SnapShot: Wnt/beta-catenin signaling. Cell 2007;131(6):1204.
- 85. Semenov MV, Habas R, Macdonald BT, He X. SnapShot: Noncanonical Wnt Signaling Pathways. Cell 2007;131(7):1378.
- 86. Yu FX, Zhao B, Guan KL. Hippo Pathway in Organ Size Control, Tissue Homeostasis, and Cancer. Cell 2015;163(4):811-28.
- 87. Zhang W, Nandakumar N, Shi Y, Manzano M, Smith A, Graham G, et al. Downstream of mutant KRAS, the transcription regulator YAP is essential for neoplastic progression to pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Sci Signal 2014;7(324):ra42.
- 88. Kapoor A, Yao W, Ying H, Hua S, Liewen A, Wang Q, et al. Yap1 activation enables bypass of oncogenic Kras addiction in pancreatic cancer. Cell 2014;158(1):185-97.
- 89. Hanahan D, Weinberg RA. Hallmarks of cancer: the next generation. Cell 2011;144(5):646-74.
- 90. Perez-Mancera PA, Guerra C, Barbacid M, Tuveson DA. What we have learned about pancreatic cancer from mouse models. Gastroenterology 2012;142(5):1079-92.
- 91. Qian J, Niu J, Li M, Chiao PJ, Tsao MS. In vitro modeling of human pancreatic duct epithelial cell transformation defines gene expression changes induced by K-ras oncogenic activation in pancreatic carcinogenesis. Cancer Res 2005;65(12):5045-53.
- 92. Stellas D, Szabolcs M, Koul S, Li Z, Polyzos A, Anagnostopoulos C, et al. Therapeutic effects of an anti-Myc drug on mouse pancreatic cancer. J Natl Cancer Inst 2014;106(12).
- 93. Vander Heiden MG, Cantley LC, Thompson CB. Understanding the Warburg effect: the metabolic requirements of cell proliferation. Science 2009;324(5930):1029-33.
- 94. Gaglio D, Metallo CM, Gameiro PA, Hiller K, Danna LS, Balestrieri C, et al. Oncogenic K-Ras decouples glucose and glutamine metabolism to support cancer cell growth. Mol Syst Biol 2011;7:523.
- 95. Yun J, Rago C, Cheong I, Pagliarini R, Angenendt P, Rajagopalan H, et al. Glucose deprivation contributes to the development of KRAS pathway mutations in tumor cells. Science 2009;325(5947):1555-9.
- 96. Perera RM, Bardeesy N. Pancreatic Cancer Metabolism: Breaking It Down to Build It Back Up. Cancer Discov 2015;5(12):1247-61.
- 97. Guillaumond F, Leca J, Olivares O, Lavaut MN, Vidal N, Berthezene P, et al. Strengthened glycolysis under hypoxia supports tumor symbiosis and hexosamine biosynthesis in pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2013;110(10):3919-24.
- 98. Baek G, Tse YF, Hu Z, Cox D, Buboltz N, McCue P, et al. MCT4 defines a glycolytic subtype of pancreatic cancer with poor prognosis and unique metabolic dependencies. Cell Rep 2014;9(6):2233-49.
- 99. Son J, Lyssiotis CA, Ying H, Wang X, Hua S, Ligorio M, et al. Glutamine supports pancreatic cancer growth through a KRAS-regulated metabolic pathway. Nature 2013;496(7443):101-5.
- 100. Venugopal R, Jaiswal AK. Nrf2 and Nrf1 in association with Jun proteins regulate antioxidant response element-mediated expression and coordinated induction of genes encoding detoxifying enzymes. Oncogene 1998;17(24):3145-56.
- 101. DeNicola GM, Karreth FA, Humpton TJ, Gopinathan A, Wei C, Frese K, et al. Oncogeneinduced Nrf2 transcription promotes ROS detoxification and tumorigenesis. Nature 2011;475(7354):106-9.
- 102. Chio, II, Jafarnejad SM, Ponz-Sarvise M, Park Y, Rivera K, Palm W, et al. NRF2 Promotes Tumor Maintenance by Modulating mRNA Translation in Pancreatic Cancer. Cell 2016;166(4):963-76.

- 103. Commisso C, Davidson SM, Soydaner-Azeloglu RG, Parker SJ, Kamphorst JJ, Hackett S, et al. Macropinocytosis of protein is an amino acid supply route in Ras-transformed cells. Nature 2013;497(7451):633-7.
- 104. Rosenfeldt MT, O'Prey J, Morton JP, Nixon C, MacKay G, Mrowinska A, et al. p53 status determines the role of autophagy in pancreatic tumour development. Nature 2013;504(7479):296-300.
- 105. Yang S, Wang X, Contino G, Liesa M, Sahin E, Ying H, et al. Pancreatic cancers require autophagy for tumor growth. Genes Dev 2011;25(7):717-29.
- 106. Jonckheere N, Vincent A, Van Seuningen I. Of autophagy and in vivo pancreatic carcinogenesis: the p53 status matters! Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol 2014;38(4):423-5.
- 107. Yang A, Rajeshkumar NV, Wang X, Yabuuchi S, Alexander BM, Chu GC, et al. Autophagy is critical for pancreatic tumor growth and progression in tumors with p53 alterations. Cancer Discov 2014;4(8):905-13.
- 108. Clark CE, Hingorani SR, Mick R, Combs C, Tuveson DA, Vonderheide RH. Dynamics of the immune reaction to pancreatic cancer from inception to invasion. Cancer Res 2007;67(19):9518-27.
- 109. Ji H, Houghton AM, Mariani TJ, Perera S, Kim CB, Padera R, et al. K-ras activation generates an inflammatory response in lung tumors. Oncogene 2006;25(14):2105-12.
- 110. Sparmann A, Bar-Sagi D. Ras-induced interleukin-8 expression plays a critical role in tumor growth and angiogenesis. Cancer Cell 2004;6(5):447-58.
- 111. Lesina M, Kurkowski MU, Ludes K, Rose-John S, Treiber M, Kloppel G, et al. Stat3/Socs3 activation by IL-6 transsignaling promotes progression of pancreatic intraepithelial neoplasia and development of pancreatic cancer. Cancer Cell 2011;19(4):456-69.
- 112. Zhang Y, Yan W, Collins MA, Bednar F, Rakshit S, Zetter BR, et al. Interleukin-6 is required for pancreatic cancer progression by promoting MAPK signaling activation and oxidative stress resistance. Cancer Res 2013;73(20):6359-74.
- 113. Bellone G, Carbone A, Smirne C, Scirelli T, Buffolino A, Novarino A, et al. Cooperative induction of a tolerogenic dendritic cell phenotype by cytokines secreted by pancreatic carcinoma cells. J Immunol 2006;177(5):3448-60.
- 114. Bellone G, Smirne C, Mauri FA, Tonel E, Carbone A, Buffolino A, et al. Cytokine expression profile in human pancreatic carcinoma cells and in surgical specimens: implications for survival. Cancer Immunol Immunother 2006;55(6):684-98.
- 115. Ancrile B, Lim KH, Counter CM. Oncogenic Ras-induced secretion of IL6 is required for tumorigenesis. Genes Dev 2007;21(14):1714-9.
- 116. Yu C, Merza M, Luo L, Thorlacius H. Inhibition of Ras signalling reduces neutrophil infiltration and tissue damage in severe acute pancreatitis. Eur J Pharmacol 2015;746:245-51.
- 117. Bayne LJ, Beatty GL, Jhala N, Clark CE, Rhim AD, Stanger BZ, et al. Tumor-derived granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor regulates myeloid inflammation and T cell immunity in pancreatic cancer. Cancer Cell 2012;21(6):822-35.
- 118. Pylayeva-Gupta Y, Lee KE, Hajdu CH, Miller G, Bar-Sagi D. Oncogenic Kras-induced GM-CSF production promotes the development of pancreatic neoplasia. Cancer Cell 2012;21(6):836-47.
- 119. Seifert L, Werba G, Tiwari S, Giao Ly NN, Alothman S, Alqunaibit D, et al. The necrosome promotes pancreatic oncogenesis via CXCL1 and Mincle-induced immune suppression. Nature 2016;532(7598):245-9.
- 120. Hanahan D, Folkman J. Patterns and emerging mechanisms of the angiogenic switch during tumorigenesis. Cell 1996;86(3):353-64.
- 121. Korc M. Pathways for aberrant angiogenesis in pancreatic cancer. Mol Cancer 2003;2:8.
- 122. Ikeda N, Nakajima Y, Sho M, Adachi M, Huang CL, Iki K, et al. The association of K-ras gene mutation and vascular endothelial growth factor gene expression in pancreatic carcinoma. Cancer 2001;92(3):488-99.

- 123. Matsuo Y, Campbell PM, Brekken RA, Sung B, Ouellette MM, Fleming JB, et al. K-Ras promotes angiogenesis mediated by immortalized human pancreatic epithelial cells through mitogen-activated protein kinase signaling pathways. Mol Cancer Res 2009;7(6):799-808.
- 124. Okada F, Rak JW, Croix BS, Lieubeau B, Kaya M, Roncari L, et al. Impact of oncogenes in tumor angiogenesis: mutant K-ras up-regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor/vascular permeability factor is necessary, but not sufficient for tumorigenicity of human colorectal carcinoma cells. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1998;95(7):3609-14.
- 125. Tape CJ, Ling S, Dimitriadi M, McMahon KM, Worboys JD, Leong HS, et al. Oncogenic KRAS Regulates Tumor Cell Signaling via Stromal Reciprocation. Cell 2016;165(7):1818.
- 126. Jonckheere N, Skrypek N, Van Seuningen I. Mucins and pancreatic cancer. Cancers (Basel) 2010;2(4):1794-812.
- 127. Hollingsworth MA, Swanson BJ. Mucins in cancer: protection and control of the cell surface. Nat Rev Cancer 2004;4(1):45-60.
- 128. Jonckheere N, Van Seuningen I. The membrane-bound mucins: From cell signalling to transcriptional regulation and expression in epithelial cancers. Biochimie 2010;92(1):1-11.
- 129. Jonckheere N, Skrypek N, Van Seuningen I. Mucins and tumor resistance to chemotherapeutic drugs. Biochim Biophys Acta 2014;1846(1):142-51.
- 130. Rachagani S, Torres MP, Kumar S, Haridas D, Baine M, Macha MA, et al. Mucin (Muc) expression during pancreatic cancer progression in spontaneous mouse model: potential implications for diagnosis and therapy. J Hematol Oncol 2012;5:68.
- 131. Vasseur R, Skrypek N, Duchene B, Renaud F, Martinez-Maqueda D, Vincent A, et al. The mucin MUC4 is a transcriptional and post-transcriptional target of K-ras oncogene in pancreatic cancer. Implication of MAPK/AP-1, NF-kappaB and RalB signaling pathways. Biochim Biophys Acta 2015;1849(12):1375-84.
- 132. Gayral M, Jo S, Hanoun N, Vignolle-Vidoni A, Lulka H, Delpu Y, et al. MicroRNAs as emerging biomarkers and therapeutic targets for pancreatic cancer. World J Gastroenterol 2014;20(32):11199-209.
- 133. Brunetti O, Russo A, Scarpa A, Santini D, Reni M, Bittoni A, et al. MicroRNA in pancreatic adenocarcinoma: predictive/prognostic biomarkers or therapeutic targets? Oncotarget 2015;6(27):23323-41.
- 134. Ma MZ, Kong X, Weng MZ, Cheng K, Gong W, Quan ZW, et al. Candidate microRNA biomarkers of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma: meta-analysis, experimental validation and clinical significance. J Exp Clin Cancer Res 2013;32:71.
- 135. Szafranska AE, Davison TS, John J, Cannon T, Sipos B, Maghnouj A, et al. MicroRNA expression alterations are linked to tumorigenesis and non-neoplastic processes in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma. Oncogene 2007;26(30):4442-52.
- 136. du Rieu MC, Torrisani J, Selves J, Al Saati T, Souque A, Dufresne M, et al. MicroRNA-21 is induced early in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma precursor lesions. Clin Chem 2010;56(4):603-12.
- 137. Lahdaoui F, Delpu Y, Vincent A, Renaud F, Messager M, Duchene B, et al. miR-219-1-3p is a negative regulator of the mucin MUC4 expression and is a tumor suppressor in pancreatic cancer. Oncogene 2015;34(6):780-8.
- 138. Trehoux S, Lahdaoui F, Delpu Y, Renaud F, Leteurtre E, Torrisani J, et al. Micro-RNAs miR-29a and miR-330-5p function as tumor suppressors by targeting the MUC1 mucin in pancreatic cancer cells. Biochim Biophys Acta 2015;1853(10 Pt A):2392-403.
- 139. Yu S, Lu Z, Liu C, Meng Y, Ma Y, Zhao W, et al. miRNA-96 suppresses KRAS and functions as a tumor suppressor gene in pancreatic cancer. Cancer Res 2010;70(14):6015-25.
- 140. Zhao WG, Yu SN, Lu ZH, Ma YH, Gu YM, Chen J. The miR-217 microRNA functions as a potential tumor suppressor in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma by targeting KRAS. Carcinogenesis 2010;31(10):1726-33.

- 141. Torrisani J, Bournet B, du Rieu MC, Bouisson M, Souque A, Escourrou J, et al. let-7 MicroRNA transfer in pancreatic cancer-derived cells inhibits in vitro cell proliferation but fails to alter tumor progression. Hum Gene Ther 2009;20(8):831-44.
- 142. Downward J. Targeting RAS signalling pathways in cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer 2003;3(1):11-22.
- 143. Chen G, Oh S, Monia BP, Stacey DW. Antisense oligonucleotides demonstrate a dominant role of c-Ki-RAS proteins in regulating the proliferation of diploid human fibroblasts. J Biol Chem 1996;271(45):28259-65.
- 144. Zorde Khvalevsky E, Gabai R, Rachmut IH, Horwitz E, Brunschwig Z, Orbach A, et al. Mutant KRAS is a druggable target for pancreatic cancer. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2013;110(51):20723-8.
- 145. Golan T, Khvalevsky EZ, Hubert A, Gabai RM, Hen N, Segal A, et al. RNAi therapy targeting KRAS in combination with chemotherapy for locally advanced pancreatic cancer patients. Oncotarget 2015;6(27):24560-70.
- 146. Lim SM, Westover KD, Ficarro SB, Harrison RA, Choi HG, Pacold ME, et al. Therapeutic targeting of oncogenic K-Ras by a covalent catalytic site inhibitor. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 2014;53(1):199-204.
- 147. Ostrem JM, Peters U, Sos ML, Wells JA, Shokat KM. K-Ras(G12C) inhibitors allosterically control GTP affinity and effector interactions. Nature 2013;503(7477):548-51.
- 148. Patricelli MP, Janes MR, Li LS, Hansen R, Peters U, Kessler LV, et al. Selective Inhibition of Oncogenic KRAS Output with Small Molecules Targeting the Inactive State. Cancer Discov 2016;6(3):316-29.
- 149. Burns MC, Sun Q, Daniels RN, Camper D, Kennedy JP, Phan J, et al. Approach for targeting Ras with small molecules that activate SOS-mediated nucleotide exchange. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2014;111(9):3401-6.
- 150. Sun Q, Burke JP, Phan J, Burns MC, Olejniczak ET, Waterson AG, et al. Discovery of small molecules that bind to K-Ras and inhibit Sos-mediated activation. Angew Chem Int Ed Engl 2012;51(25):6140-3.
- 151. Ahmadian MR, Zor T, Vogt D, Kabsch W, Selinger Z, Wittinghofer A, et al. Guanosine triphosphatase stimulation of oncogenic Ras mutants. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 1999;96(12):7065-70.
- 152. Adjei AA. Blocking oncogenic Ras signaling for cancer therapy. J Natl Cancer Inst 2001;93(14):1062-74.
- 153. Cox AD, Fesik SW, Kimmelman AC, Luo J, Der CJ. Drugging the undruggable RAS: Mission possible? Nat Rev Drug Discov 2014;13(11):828-51.
- 154. Laheru D, Shah P, Rajeshkumar NV, McAllister F, Taylor G, Goldsweig H, et al. Integrated preclinical and clinical development of S-trans, trans-Farnesylthiosalicylic Acid (FTS, Salirasib) in pancreatic cancer. Invest New Drugs 2012;30(6):2391-9.
- 155. End DW, Smets G, Todd AV, Applegate TL, Fuery CJ, Angibaud P, et al. Characterization of the antitumor effects of the selective farnesyl protein transferase inhibitor R115777 in vivo and in vitro. Cancer Res 2001;61(1):131-7.
- 156. Van Cutsem E, van de Velde H, Karasek P, Oettle H, Vervenne WL, Szawlowski A, et al. Phase III trial of gemcitabine plus tipifarnib compared with gemcitabine plus placebo in advanced pancreatic cancer. J Clin Oncol 2004;22(8):1430-8.
- 157. Tamanoi F, Lu J. Recent progress in developing small molecule inhibitors designed to interfere with ras membrane association: toward inhibiting K-Ras and N-Ras functions. Enzymes 2013;34 Pt. B:181-200.
- 158. Lobell RB, Omer CA, Abrams MT, Bhimnathwala HG, Brucker MJ, Buser CA, et al. Evaluation of farnesyl:protein transferase and geranylgeranyl:protein transferase inhibitor combinations in preclinical models. Cancer Res 2001;61(24):8758-68.
- 159. Bergo MO, Gavino BJ, Hong C, Beigneux AP, McMahon M, Casey PJ, et al. Inactivation of Icmt inhibits transformation by oncogenic K-Ras and B-Raf. J Clin Invest 2004;113(4):539-50.

- 160. Bergo MO, Leung GK, Ambroziak P, Otto JC, Casey PJ, Young SG. Targeted inactivation of the isoprenylcysteine carboxyl methyltransferase gene causes mislocalization of K-Ras in mammalian cells. J Biol Chem 2000;275(23):17605-10.
- 161. Court H, Amoyel M, Hackman M, Lee KE, Xu R, Miller G, et al. Isoprenylcysteine carboxylmethyltransferase deficiency exacerbates KRAS-driven pancreatic neoplasia via Notch suppression. J Clin Invest 2013;123(11):4681-94.
- 162. Spiegel J, Cromm PM, Zimmermann G, Grossmann TN, Waldmann H. Small-molecule modulation of Ras signaling. Nat Chem Biol 2014;10(8):613-22.
- 163. Zimmermann G, Papke B, Ismail S, Vartak N, Chandra A, Hoffmann M, et al. Small molecule inhibition of the KRAS-PDEdelta interaction impairs oncogenic KRAS signalling. Nature 2013;497(7451):638-42.
- 164. Baines AT, Xu D, Der CJ. Inhibition of Ras for cancer treatment: the search continues. Future Med Chem 2011;3(14):1787-808.
- 165. Campbell PM, Singh A, Williams FJ, Frantz K, Ulku AS, Kelley GG, et al. Genetic and pharmacologic dissection of Ras effector utilization in oncogenesis. Methods Enzymol 2006;407:195-217.
- 166. Stephen AG, Esposito D, Bagni RK, McCormick F. Dragging ras back in the ring. Cancer Cell 2014;25(3):272-81.
- 167. De Luca A, Maiello MR, D'Alessio A, Pergameno M, Normanno N. The RAS/RAF/MEK/ERK and the PI3K/AKT signalling pathways: role in cancer pathogenesis and implications for therapeutic approaches. Expert Opin Ther Targets 2012;16 Suppl 2:S17-27.
- 168. Yeh JJ, Der CJ. Targeting signal transduction in pancreatic cancer treatment. Expert Opin Ther Targets 2007;11(5):673-94.
- 169. Lito P, Rosen N, Solit DB. Tumor adaptation and resistance to RAF inhibitors. Nat Med 2013;19(11):1401-9.
- 170. Lorusso PM, Adjei AA, Varterasian M, Gadgeel S, Reid J, Mitchell DY, et al. Phase I and pharmacodynamic study of the oral MEK inhibitor CI-1040 in patients with advanced malignancies. J Clin Oncol 2005;23(23):5281-93.
- 171. Hofmann I, Weiss A, Elain G, Schwaederle M, Sterker D, Romanet V, et al. K-RAS mutant pancreatic tumors show higher sensitivity to MEK than to PI3K inhibition in vivo. PLoS One 2012;7(8):e44146.
- 172. Bodoky G, Timcheva C, Spigel DR, La Stella PJ, Ciuleanu TE, Pover G, et al. A phase II openlabel randomized study to assess the efficacy and safety of selumetinib (AZD6244 [ARRY-142886]) versus capecitabine in patients with advanced or metastatic pancreatic cancer who have failed first-line gemcitabine therapy. Invest New Drugs 2012;30(3):1216-23.
- 173. Alagesan B, Contino G, Guimaraes AR, Corcoran RB, Deshpande V, Wojtkiewicz GR, et al. Combined MEK and PI3K inhibition in a mouse model of pancreatic cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2015;21(2):396-404.
- 174. Vena F, Li Causi E, Rodriguez-Justo M, Goodstal S, Hagemann T, Hartley JA, et al. The MEK1/2 Inhibitor Pimasertib Enhances Gemcitabine Efficacy in Pancreatic Cancer Models by Altering Ribonucleotide Reductase Subunit-1 (RRM1). Clin Cancer Res 2015;21(24):5563-77.
- 175. Ischenko I, Petrenko O, Hayman MJ. A MEK/PI3K/HDAC inhibitor combination therapy for KRAS mutant pancreatic cancer cells. Oncotarget 2015;6(18):15814-27.
- 176. Wolpin BM, Hezel AF, Abrams T, Blaszkowsky LS, Meyerhardt JA, Chan JA, et al. Oral mTOR inhibitor everolimus in patients with gemcitabine-refractory metastatic pancreatic cancer. J Clin Oncol 2009;27(2):193-8.
- 177. Athuluri-Divakar SK, Vasquez-Del Carpio R, Dutta K, Baker SJ, Cosenza SC, Basu I, et al. A Small Molecule RAS-Mimetic Disrupts RAS Association with Effector Proteins to Block Signaling. Cell 2016;165(3):643-55.
- 178. Kortmansky J, Schwartz GK. Bryostatin-1: a novel PKC inhibitor in clinical development. Cancer Invest 2003;21(6):924-36.

- 179. Cox AD, Der CJ, Philips MR. Targeting RAS Membrane Association: Back to the Future for Anti-RAS Drug Discovery? Clin Cancer Res 2015;21(8):1819-27.
- 180. Shimizu T, Tolcher AW, Papadopoulos KP, Beeram M, Rasco DW, Smith LS, et al. The clinical effect of the dual-targeting strategy involving PI3K/AKT/mTOR and RAS/MEK/ERK pathways in patients with advanced cancer. Clin Cancer Res 2012;18(8):2316-25.
- 181. de Leon-Boenig G, Bowman KK, Feng JA, Crawford T, Everett C, Franke Y, et al. The crystal structure of the catalytic domain of the NF-kappaB inducing kinase reveals a narrow but flexible active site. Structure 2012;20(10):1704-14.
- 182. Storz P. Targeting the alternative NF-kappaB pathway in pancreatic cancer: a new direction for therapy? Expert Rev Anticancer Ther 2013;13(5):501-4.
- 183. Mortier J, Masereel B, Remouchamps C, Ganeff C, Piette J, Frederick R. NF-kappaB inducing kinase (NIK) inhibitors: identification of new scaffolds using virtual screening. Bioorg Med Chem Lett 2010;20(15):4515-20.
- 184. Luo J, Emanuele MJ, Li D, Creighton CJ, Schlabach MR, Westbrook TF, et al. A genome-wide RNAi screen identifies multiple synthetic lethal interactions with the Ras oncogene. Cell 2009;137(5):835-48.
- 185. Steckel M, Molina-Arcas M, Weigelt B, Marani M, Warne PH, Kuznetsov H, et al. Determination of synthetic lethal interactions in KRAS oncogene-dependent cancer cells reveals novel therapeutic targeting strategies. Cell Res 2012;22(8):1227-45.
- 186. Marcotte R, Brown KR, Suarez F, Sayad A, Karamboulas K, Krzyzanowski PM, et al. Essential gene profiles in breast, pancreatic, and ovarian cancer cells. Cancer Discov 2012;2(2):172-89.
- 187. Malumbres M, Barbacid M. RAS oncogenes: the first 30 years. Nat Rev Cancer 2003;3(6):459-65.
- 188. Cohen R, Neuzillet C, Tijeras-Raballand A, Faivre S, de Gramont A, Raymond E. Targeting cancer cell metabolism in pancreatic adenocarcinoma. Oncotarget 2015;6(19):16832-47.
- 189. Foley K, Kim V, Jaffee E, Zheng L. Current progress in immunotherapy for pancreatic cancer. Cancer Lett 2015.
- 190. Conroy T, Desseigne F, Ychou M, Bouche O, Guimbaud R, Becouarn Y, et al. FOLFIRINOX versus gemcitabine for metastatic pancreatic cancer. N Engl J Med 2011;364(19):1817-25.
- 191. Goldstein D, El-Maraghi RH, Hammel P, Heinemann V, Kunzmann V, Sastre J, et al. nab-Paclitaxel plus gemcitabine for metastatic pancreatic cancer: long-term survival from a phase III trial. J Natl Cancer Inst 2015;107(2).

Figure legends

Figure 1: Schematic representation of K-RAS GDP/GTP cycling and its mutations (A) Schematic K-RAS4B protein. β: β-strand, α: helix-α. HVR: hypervariable region, KKKK: lysine rich region. * indicates the cysteine residue that is farnesylated. CAAX represents a sequence in which C= cysteine, A= aliphatic amino acid (Leu, Ileu or Val), X= Met, Ser, Leu or Gln. (B) 3D structure of GDP-bound Human K-RAS (4OBE) from protein data bank (<u>http://www.rcsb.org/pdb</u>) (C) K-RAS GTPase cycle. K-RASG12 mutation induces an accumulation of GTP-bound proteins unable to hydrolyze GTP and maintains the active conformation. (D) Frequency of K-RAS G12, G13, Q61 and other mutations in pancreatic cancer.

Figure 2: K-RAS effectors and signaling pathways

Figure 3: K-RAS mutation and biological alterations of PDAC cells and tumor microenvironment

Figure 4: Therapeutic strategy targeting K-RAS and its post-transcriptional modifications. FTase: Farnesyltransferase, FTI: FFTase inhibitors, GGTase: Geranylgeranyltransferase, GGTI: GGTase inhibitors, Me: methyl, DABP-GTP (Diaminobenzophenone-phosphoamidate-GTP), Rce1: RAS converting enzyme 1, Icmt1: Isoprenylcysteine carboxymethyl transferase 1, PDE6δ: phospho diesterase 6δ.

Table1: Available PDAC data set retrieved from Gene Omnibus Expression comparing mutated K-RAS vs wild type K-RAS. GSE15126, GSE53659, GSE58307 transcriptome were analysed with with GEO2R. Gene ontology clustering was subsequently performed using David Functional Annotation Tool (https://david.ncifcrf.gov/).

Acknowledgements:

Romain Vasseur was the recipient of a doctoral fellowship of Lille2 University. This work is supported by grants from la Ligue Nationale Contre le Cancer (Ligue 62, NJ), from SIRIC ONCOLille, Grant INCaDGOS-Inserm 6041 (IVS, NJ) and from region Nord-Pas de Calais. We are grateful to Dr B. Neve and Dr A. Vincent (Inserm UMR-S1172, Lille) for their critical reading of the manuscript.

The study sponsors have no involvement in the writing or in the decision to submit the manuscript for publication.

| Cluster | Gene ontology | Enrichment score | |
|---|---|------------------|--|
| K-RAS dependant vs K-RAS independant PDAC cell lines. GSE15126 | | | |
| Cluster 1 | metal-binding, metal ion binding, cation binding, ion binding, zinc, transition metal ion binding, zinc ion binding, zinc-finger | 2.11 | |
| Cluster 2 | basolateral plasma membrane, apical part of cell, apical plasma membrane | 1.8 | |
| Cluster 3 | actin binding, cytoskeletal protein binding, cytoskeleton | 1.55 | |
| Cluster 4 | icosanoid metabolic process, unsaturated fatty acid metabolic process, | 1.53 | |
| Cluster 5 | cell fraction membrane fraction insoluble fraction vesicular fraction | 15 | |
| | microsome, endoplasmic reticulum, endoplasmic reticulum | | |
| K-Ras ablated cells vs 24h K-Ras expressing cells (mus musculus) GSE58307 | | | |
| Cluster 1 | Nucleolus, nuclear lumen, ribosome biogenesis, intracellular organelle lumen, organelle lumen, ribonucleoprotein complex biogenesis, | 8.6 | |
| | membrane-enclosed iumen, non-membrane-bounded organelle, | | |
| Cluster 2 | rihosome biogenesis, rihonucleoprotein complex biogenesis, ncRNA | 3 95 | |
| | processing, rRNA processing, rRNA metabolic process, ribosome | 0.90 | |
| Olympian 2 | biogenesis, ncRNA metabolic process, RNA processing, RNA binding | 0.00 | |
| Cluster 3 | processing, tRNA metabolic process, trna processing, tRNA | 2.68 | |
| Cluster 4 | nucleocytoplasmic transport, nuclear transport, protein import, protein | 1.71 | |
| | targeting, protein import into nucleus, protein localization in organelle, | | |
| | nuclear import, protein localization in nucleus, cellular protein complex | | |
| | assembly, pore complex, protein import into nucleus, docking, Importin- | | |
| | beta, N-terminal, domain: Importin N-terminal, nuclear pore, intracellular | | |
| | transport, protein complex assembly, protein complex biogenesis, | | |
| | Armadilio-like helical, intracellular protein transport, cellular | | |
| | notain localization, cellular macromolecule localization, cellular | | |
| | macromolecular complex subunit organization, macromolecular complex | | |
| | assembly macromolecular complex subunit organization, macromolecular complex | | |
| | transporter activity, protein transport, establishment of protein | | |
| | localization, nuclear envelope, protein localization, protein transport. | | |
| | endomembrane system, organelle envelope, envelope | | |
| Cluster 5 | Methyltransferase, RNA methyltransferase activity, binding site:S- | 1.41 | |
| | adenosyl-L-methionine, s-adenosyl-l-methionine | | |
| WT vs bitransgenic Pdx1-cre/K-Ras ^{G12D} mice bearing Pancreatic Ductal Adenocarcinoma, GSE53659 | | | |
| Cluster 1 | signal peptide, disulfide bond, glycoprotein, glycosylation site : N-linked | 12.43 | |
| | (GlcNAc), disulfide bond, secreted, extracellular region | | |
| Cluster 2 | defense response, response to wounding, inflammatory response | 4.41 | |
| Cluster 3 | regulation of cell-substrate adhesion, proteinaceous extracellular matrix, | 2.91 | |
| | extracellular matrix, regulation of cell adhesion, positive regulation of cell- | | |
| | substrate adhesion, extracellular matrix, positive regulation of cell | | |
| | adhesion, extracellular matrix organization, extracellular structure | | |
| Cluster 4 | organization | 2.0 | |
| Cluster 4 | pattern binding, polysacchande binding, grycosaminogrycan binding, carbobydrate binding, benarin binding, benarin-binding | 2.0 | |
| Cluster 5 | domain: Pentidase S1, Pentidase S1A, chymotrynsin, Pentidase S1/S6 | 2.53 | |
| Ciusiei J | chymotrypsin/Han active site propentide: Activation pentide Pentidase | 2.00 | |
| | S1 and S6 chymotrypsin/Hap, active site; Charge relay system | | |
| | Tryp SPc, serine proteinase, serine-type endopeptidase activity. | | |
| | zymogen, serine-type peptidase activity, serine hydrolase activity. | | |
| | PIRSF001135:trypsin, endopeptidase activity, Serine protease, | | |
| | hydrolase, peptidase activity, acting on L-amino acid peptides, peptidase | | |
| | activity, Protease, proteolysis | | |
| Cluster 6 | Fibronectin, type III-like fold, Fibronectin, type III, FN3, short sequence | 2.5 | |
| | motif:Box 1 motif, short sequence motif:WSXWS motif, cytokine binding, | | |
| | domain:Fibronectin type-III 2, cytokine receptor activity, | | |
| | domain:Fibronectin type-III 1, Short hematopoietin receptor, family 1, | | |
| | conserved site, Cytokine-cytokine receptor interaction, | | |
| | domain:Fibronectin type-III 4, domain:Fibronectin type-III 6, | | |
| | domain:Fibronectin type-III 3, Jak-S fAT signaling pathway, | | |
| Oliveter 7 | domain:Fibronectin type-III 5 | 0.45 | |
| Ciuster / | i umour necrosis factor-like, Complement C1q protein, domain:C1q, | 2.15 | |

| | hydroxylation, C1Q, Collagen triple helix repeat, collagen, domain: Collagen-like | |
|-----------|---|---|
| Cluster 8 | positive regulation of immune system process, negative regulation of lymphocyte activation, immune response, negative regulation of cell activation, negative regulation of leukocyte activation, immunoglobulin mediated immune response, B cell mediated immunity, lymphocyte mediated immunity, negative regulation of immune system process, immune effector process, adaptive immune response, adaptive immune response based on somatic recombination of immune receptors built from immunoglobulin superfamily domains, immune response, leukocyte mediated immunity, Systemic lupus erythematosus | 2 |

Table1: Available PDAC data set retrieved from Gene Omnibus Expression comparing mutated K-RAS vs wild type K-RAS. GSE15126, GSE53659, GSE58307 transcriptome were analyzed with GEO2R. Gene ontology clustering was subsequently performed using David Functional Annotation Tool (https://david.ncifcrf.gov/).

Figure 1



Figure 2 Figure 2



Figure 3

Figure 3





Highlights

- The early K-RAS mutation contributes to pancreatic carcinogenesis initiation
- K-RAS is central in cellular signaling network of pancreatic cancer cells
- Oncogenic RAS alters the tumor microenvironment and modulates immune
 responses
- K-RAS regulates genes that alter multiple metabolic pathways and generate energy
- So far, clinic failure of K-RAS targeting highlights the need of new approaches